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I. The Currency Conversion Litigation:  A Retrospective

The In re Currency Conversion Fee Antitrust Litigation case began in 2001 as a series of class actions filed in federal court in various jurisdictions.  They were centralized for pretrial proceedings by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict litigation and referred to the Hon. William H. Pauley, United States District Judge for the Southern District of New York.  The parties entered into a settlement agreement in 2006, which the district court preliminarily approved by an order dated November 8, 2006.  At the time of settlement, discovery had closed, but the parties had not filed dispositive motions and some of the district court’s orders relating to class certification were on appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit.  A review of the trajectory of the Currency Conversion case and the issues raised and decided during the litigation provides an example of the types of issues that may be litigated in a complex case.

A. Motion to Dismiss.

Allegations of the Complaint.  The consolidated class action complaint asserted claims under the federal antitrust laws and the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1601.  The complaint’s central focus was the alleged pricing and disclosures surrounding currency conversion fees charged in connection with transactions abroad by United States cardholders using Visa and MasterCard-branded general purpose cards issued by the bank members of Visa and MasterCard.  See In re Currency Conversion Fee Antitrust Litig., 265 F. Supp. 2d 385, 393-397 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (“Currency Conversion I”).

According to the complaint, Visa and MasterCard’s networks serve as clearinghouses for general purpose card transactions occurring in foreign countries using cards issued by the Visa and MasterCard member banks.  Thus, cardholders could purchase goods and services abroad in a foreign currency, but be billed for those transactions in the United States in dollars.  See id.  As part of the conversion, the complaint added, cardholders were allegedly charged a fee ranging from 1% to approximately 3 or 4% of the value of the transaction.  The complaint further alleged that there were two tiers of fees:  one charged by the networks, Visa and MasterCard, and another effectively charged and retained by the issuer banks.  See id.  The complaint alleged that the fee charged by the networks was set at 1% of the transaction, and that the fee set by the banks varied, but ranged from 1 to 3%.

The basic antitrust theory advanced by the complaint asserted an agreement by Visa and MasterCard member banks, allegedly effectuated in part through the networks, to set a price for currency conversion transactions (i.e., the alleged 1% network level fee) that would act as a “floor” for the second tier currency conversion fees.  According to the complaint, the member banks’ participation in the governance of both Visa and MasterCard provided the basis for alleging that there was common control and, therefore, an opportunity to communicate and coordinate pricing on the alleged “floor” price.  See id. at 393-94.  Thus, the plaintiffs alleged that MasterCard’s decision to adopt a 1% currency conversion fee was a result of a tacit agreement between Visa, MasterCard, and their member banks, even though that change took place several months after Visa’s announcement of its currency conversion practice.

Although the complaint alleged that the member banks had common control of Visa and MasterCard, it also stated that “the member banks generally compete against each other on many price terms, such as interest rates, annual fees, and services charged through Visa and MasterCard.”  Id. at 394.  The allegations also stated that, with respect to the “second tier” fee, the banks’ charges were “typically” 2% of the foreign currency transaction; some defendant banks were alleged not to have imposed any such charge at all.  The complaint then asserted that, in the absence of price coordination, imposition of “second tier” fees would be against the economic self-interest of each member bank and that the fee had no cost-justification.  See id. at 395.

Finally, the complaint alleged that the member banks’ solicitations, cardholder agreements and monthly statements did not have adequate disclosures of their fees.  The complaint did note that some cardholder agreements and initial disclosure statements contained certain disclosures, but asserted that these disclosures were inadequate.

Motion to Dismiss.  The district court denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss the antitrust claims.  The defendants argued that, because plaintiffs’ allegations of parallel conduct and “plus” factors allowed for an inference that the conduct alleged was lawful, the complaint should be dismissed.  The defendants also argued that an inference of conspiracy “should not be drawn from the facts alleged in the Complaint because those inferences are economically implausible.”  Id. at 419.  For example, with reference to allegations concerning the “second tier” fee, the defendants argued that the complaint’s allegations of consciously parallel conduct with plus factors was insufficient as a matter of law, particularly in light of the varied practices alleged.  According to the district court, however, the combination of allegations of parallel conduct and common control over the Visa and MasterCard networks – which would provide the opportunity for communication and information exchange – was sufficient to sustain the complaint in the face of “the minimum requirements of Rule 8 notice pleading.”  Id.   According to the district court, arguments of implausibility would have to be advanced at the summary judgment stage.  See id. at 419-20.

Arbitration Motion.  Although the district court denied defendants’ motion to dismiss, it granted several of the defendants’ motions to refer the disputes to arbitration.  In concluding that the disputes should be referred to arbitration, the district court held that the arbitration clauses in the cardholder agreements at issue were broad and that they encompassed the instant dispute.  The clauses at issue generally provided that “any claim, dispute or controversy” shall be resolved by binding arbitration.  See id. at 404.  According to the court, the scope of the arbitration clauses were such that they provided “clear[] and unmistakabl[e]” evidence that the parties intended to refer even the question of arbitrability to the arbitrator.  See id. at 405.  The district court also rejected arguments that the statutory federal antitrust and TILA claims in the case were not subject to arbitration.  See id. at 408-09.  The district court similarly rejected miscellaneous arguments that the arbitration clauses were unenforceable.  In particular, the district court concluded that the clauses in question were not “unconscionable” principally on the basis that the fee mechanisms for arbitrating the disputes would not preclude any individual claimant from vindicating their statutory rights.  See id. at 411-13.

Finally, the district court held that claims against parent companies and affiliates of the defendant entities that were signatories to the arbitration agreements would also be referred to arbitration.  In so concluding, the district court relied on the doctrine of equitable estoppel, holding that arbitration will be required when the issues as between a signatory and non-signatory to an agreement with an arbitration clause are intertwined with the subject matter of the arbitration.  See id. at 402.

B. Motion for Class Certification.

As with the motion to dismiss, briefing and decision on class certification involved two distinct lines of analysis:  (i) class certification analysis of antitrust claims and (ii) the impact of arbitration clauses.

Antitrust analysis.  The district court analyzed plaintiffs’ class certification under the customary rubric established by F.R.C.P. 23(a) and (b).  After concluding that the putative class satisfied numerosity, typicality, commonality and adequacy requirements under F.R.C.P. 23(a), the district court focused on predominance, where analysis of the element of antitrust injury was the centerpiece.  The defendants advanced a number of arguments to demonstrate that the impact (i.e., antitrust injury) caused by the alleged actions of defendants on potential class members was not susceptible to classwide proof.  See In re Currency Conversion Fee Antitrust Litig., 224 F.R.D. 555, 564-65 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (“Currency Conversion II”) (summarizing arguments).

In response to these arguments, the district court observed that “[a]t this stage, Plaintiffs need only advance a plausible methodology to demonstrate that antitrust injury can be proven on a class-wide basis.”  Id. at 565.  Then, referring to the methodology proposed by plaintiffs’ experts, the district court stated:  “While Defendants take issue with Plaintiffs’ methodology, this Court need not evaluate whether Plaintiffs’ theories are likely to prevail at trial.”  Id.  Relying on In re Visa Check/Mastermoney Antitrust Litigation, 280 F.3d 124 (2d Cir. 2001), the district court continued:  “Instead, the inquiry is limited to whether the proposed methodology is susceptible to common proof.”  Currency Conversion II, 224 F.R.D. at 565.  Thus, the district court declined to probe further the robustness of the experts’ methods.

Impact of Arbitration Clauses.  Whereas the district court’s Rule 23 analysis led it to conclude that a class should be certified, its analysis of the impact of arbitration clauses affected the composition of the certified class.  Here, the district court was presented with several different scenarios involving cardholders with arbitration clauses.

At the most basic level, there were the cardholders whose arbitration clauses had been the subject of the district court’s ruling in Currency Conversion I.  According to the district court, the arbitration clauses of these cardholders were part of their cardholder agreements before the commencement of the litigation.  Since their individual cases against their issuing bank and the corporate affiliates of the issuing bank had already been referred to arbitration in Currency Conversion I, those particular claims would not be litigated as part of the class action.  See Currency Conversion II, 224 F.R.D. at 570.

However, there were several other categories of cardholders.  Unrelated to the litigation, some issuing banks had introduced arbitration clauses into their cardholder agreements after the Currency Conversion litigation technically had commenced, but prior to class certification.  In terms of scope, these arbitration clauses would have covered the pending litigation.  The question presented to the district court was whether these arbitration agreements were enforceable with respect to the litigation.  The district court held that these arbitration clauses would not be enforced for essentially two reasons.  First, the district court stated that addition of the arbitration clauses after the commencement of litigation made them subject to unconscionability doctrine because the cardholder agreements did not expressly advise the cardholder of the pendency of the current litigation.  See In re Currency Conversion Fee Antitrust Litig., 361 F. Supp. 2d 237, 250-51 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (“Currency Conversion III”).  According to the district court, “[t]here was no reasonable manner for cardholders to know that by failing to reject the arbitration clause, they were forfeiting their rights as potential plaintiffs in this litigation.”  Id. at 251.  Second, in a related vein, the district court reasoned that, because the cardholder agreements were entered into after commencement of the litigation, they were subject to the district court’s supervisory authority under Rule 23, even though no class had yet been certified.  See id. at 252-53.  Under these circumstances, the district court observed, communications with potential class members that have the effect of “altering the status of a pending litigation” require judicial supervision and authorization.  See id. at 253.

Although the district court generally declined to enforce arbitration clauses introduced into cardholder agreements after the commencement of the litigation, it recognized three sets of “carve-outs” from this general rule:  (i) cardholders who opened new credit cards after commencement of the litigation; (ii) cardholders who became cardholders of a defendant issuing bank due to an account acquisition after commencement of the litigation; and (iii) cardholders whose first foreign exchange transaction on their cards occurred after commencement of the litigation.  The court reasoned that, in these instances, the cardholders were not members of the putative class when arbitration agreements were introduced into their cardholder agreements.  See id. at 258.

In addition to the cardholders who had arbitration agreements before the commencement of the litigation and the three “carve-outs,” the district court also clarified that the claims of the former group were equitably estopped not just as to corporate affiliates, but also as to all co-defendants.  Thus, not only would cardholders who had arbitration agreements before the litigation have to arbitrate their disputes against their issuer and its corporate affiliates, their claims against all the alleged co-conspirators (i.e., all other defendants) would also be referred to arbitration.  The basis for the district court’s conclusion was the equitable estoppel analysis detailed in JLM Indus., Inc. v. Stolt-Nielsen SA, 387 F.3d 163 (2d Cir. 2004), where the Second Circuit concluded that the doctrine of equitable estoppel will be applied to refer a matter to arbitration where the claim of the signatory against the non-signatory is “intertwined” with the agreement containing the arbitration clause.  See Currency Conversion III, 361 F. Supp. 2d at 260-61.

C. Epilogue

In reviewing the procedural history of the Currency Conversion litigation, we may note a number of developments both in that litigation and afterwards that litigants should consider as they litigate future cases.

First, the law on motions to dismiss has evolved since Currency Conversion I was decided.  Thus, for example, whereas some of the analysis in Currency Conversion I relied on the pleading standard articulated in cases such as Conley v. Gibson, litigants now should be prepared to address the impact of Bell Atlantic v. Twombly.

Second, on class certification, the district court followed the law as set forth in the VisaCheck case, where both the district court and the court of appeals had concluded that, on that procedural posture, an expert’s methodology for showing classwide impact was acceptable so long as it was not “fatally flawed.”  See In re VisaCheck, 280 F.3d at 135.  Subsequent decisions in the Second Circuit, however, have expressly disavowed the standard articulated in VisaCheck.  In In re Initial Public Offerings Securities Litigation, 471 F.3d 24 (2d Cir. 2006), the court noted that, in light of developments in the law, it could no longer advise district courts that “an expert’s report will sustain a plaintiff’s burden so long as it is not ‘fatally flawed.’”  Id. at 40.  The court then “disavow[ed] the suggestion in Visa Check that an expert’s testimony may establish a component of a Rule 23 requirement simply by being not fatally flawed.”  Id. at 42.  Therefore, litigants should also be prepared to address the impact of post-VisaCheck class certification decisions on their cases.

Finally, litigants should be mindful of the potential impact of arbitration clauses on class composition.  This, too, is a developing area of the law.  Even though a number of federal courts of appeals have concluded that the class action procedure may be waived by way of an arbitration clause, see, e.g., Jenkins v. First Am. Cash Advance of Ga., LLC, 400 F.3d 868, 877 (11th Cir. 2005), litigants in some cases in the post-Currency Conversion era have continued to challenge that conclusion.  Some courts in recent decisions have, under certain circumstances, declared particular kinds of arbitration clauses with class action waivers to be unenforceable (particularly under California law), see Stern v. Cingular Wireless Corp., 453 F. Supp. 2d 1138, 1149 (C.D. Cal. 2006); Discover Bank v. Superior Court, 113 P.3d 1100 (Cal. 2005), although many continue to recognize the enforceability of such clauses, see Dumanis v. Citibank (South Dakota), N.A., No. 07-CV-6070, 2007 WL 3253975 (W.D.N.Y. Nov. 2, 2007); Forness v. Cross Country Bank, Inc., No. 05-CV-417-DRH, 2006 WL 726233 (S.D. Ill. Mar. 20, 2006); Rivera v. AT&T Corp., 420 F. Supp. 2d 1312 (S.D. Fla. 2006); Provencher v. Dell, Inc., 409 F. Supp. 2d 1196 (C.D. Cal. 2006).  In another set of recent cases, plaintiffs have challenged the enforceability of card issuer arbitration clauses on the allegation that the clauses are the product of antitrust conspiracy.  In one decision, a district court declined to compel arbitration of the conspiracy claim on the ground that there was a genuine issue of fact as to the validity of the arbitration clause.  See Ross v. Am. Express Co., No. 04 Civ 5723, 2005 WL 2364969 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 27, 2005).  In another case, the district court dismissed the complaint on jurisdictional grounds.  See Ross v. Bank of Am., No. 05 Civ 7116, 2006 WL 2685082 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 20, 2006).  As of this writing, both decisions are currently on appeal before the Second Circuit.

II. Legislative and Regulatory Responses to the Subprime Lending Events
The fallout from the subprime lending events has spurred regulators, legislators, and private plaintiffs into action.  Over the course of 2007, a number of legislative and regulatory responses have been taking shape at both the federal and state levels.  In addition, enforcement actions and private litigation have been commenced against various industry participants.  Outlined below is an overview of these recent initiatives and actions.

A. Legislative and Regulatory Responses

1. Federal and State Regulatory Agencies

The majority of responses from the federal regulatory agencies tasked with oversight over the banking and lending community have centered around federal initiatives on improved consumer disclosures and assisting homeowners in avoiding mortgage foreclosure, as well as the encouragement of private industry initiatives to achieve these goals.

In addition, while not necessarily undertaken in response to the subprime lending events, in May 2007 the Federal Reserve published for public comment proposed revisions to Regulation Z, the set of rules that implements the Truth in Lending Act, that include disclosure provisions relating to subprime credit cards.

Some states have also announced legislative and regulatory initiatives on the subprime mortgage front.  For example, on October 17, 2007, the Massachusetts Attorney General’s Office issued new regulations governing the conduct of mortgage brokers and mortgage lenders in Massachusetts.

2. Congress

Over the past year, Congressional committees have held a number of hearings on the subprime mortgage lending events, and a variety of bills have been introduced.  The proposed legislation covers such diverse topics as the prevention of fraud in mortgage transactions, the prevention of predatory lending practices, the promotion of consumer education and counseling, and the implementation of a national system of licensing mortgage brokers.
  In addition, the proposals also include an amendment to the Truth in Lending Act to prohibit universal defaults on credit card accounts, as well as measures to prevent unfair practices in the credit card sector.
  Currently, most of these initiatives have been referred to a Congressional committee or await further action in either the Senate or the House of Representatives.

B. Enforcement Action

Over the course of autumn 2007, it was reported in the press, in public company disclosures, and in testimony from Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) officials that the SEC has begun inquiries into various participants in the subprime mortgage industry, including mortgage lenders, investment banks, and nationally recognized statistical credit ratings organizations (“NSRSOs”).
  It has also been reported that the Department of Justice and the Department of Commerce have initiated their own inquiries into the subprime mortgage industry.
  In addition, state Attorneys General, including the AGs of Massachusetts, California, New York, and Ohio, have also reportedly begun inquiries and/or undertaken enforcement actions against participants in the subprime mortgage and subprime credit card industries.

C. Litigation

Several suits were filed by private plaintiffs in late October and early November 2007 against investment banks in connection with the subprime mortgage events.  These actions take the form of shareholder derivative suits and class actions, alleging violations of the federal securities laws and ERISA.  The allegations center around the banks’ investments in collateralized debt obligations (“CDOs”) containing subprime debt.  The plaintiffs generally claim that the banks’ officers and directors engaged in improper management and business practices in allowing such sizeable investments in CDOs, that they concealed the extent of the exposure, and made materially false and misleading statements by failing to state adverse facts within their knowledge about that exposure.  The plaintiffs’ claimed injuries stem from the drop in stock prices that occurred in response to the banks’ subprime-related write-downs in October and November 2007, when the “true facts” of those investments were allegedly finally revealed.

III. Effect of Twombly on Payment Card and Banking Litigation
On May 21, 2007, the Supreme Court handed down its opinion in Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 127 S. Ct. 1955 (2007).  The case has generated much discussion about the level of factual detail necessary for a pleading.
  The full impact of Twombly remains to be seen, but preliminary indications appear to be that courts are taking a harder look at a complaint’s factual allegations to test its sufficiency.  
A. The Supreme Court’s Decision

In Twombly, the Supreme Court reviewed a decision by the Second Circuit reversing the district court’s dismissal of the plaintiffs’ complaint under Rule 12(b)(6).  The question presented was “whether a §1 complaint can survive a motion to dismiss when it alleges that major telecommunications providers engaged in certain parallel conduct unfavorable to competition, absent some factual context suggesting agreement, as distinct from identical, independent action.”  127 S.Ct. at 1961.  The Court held that such a complaint should be dismissed.  See id.
The case arose in the telecommunications context.  When AT&T divested its local telephone business in 1984, this established a system of regional service monopolies known as Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers (“ILECs”, also known as “Regional Bell Operating Companies” or “Baby Bells”) and a separate, competitive market for long distance service from which the ILECs were excluded.  Congress attempted to alter the competitive field when it passed the Telecommunications Act in 1996, which was intended to facilitate entry into the local telephone markets.  Under the Telecommunications Act, each ILEC was obligated to share its network with competitors, known as Competitive Local Exchange Carriers (“CLECs”).  Furthermore, the Telecommunications Act permitted the ILECs to compete in the long distance service market.

The Twombly plaintiffs represented a putative class of subscribers to local telephone and/or high speed internet services who asserted violations of §1 of the Sherman Act by the defendant ILECs.  The plaintiffs alleged that the ILECs had conspired to restrain trade in two ways.  First, plaintiffs contended that the ILECs “engaged in parallel conduct” which allegedly consisted of “making unfair agreements with the CLECs for access to ILEC networks, … overcharging, and billing in ways designed to sabotage the CLECs’ relations with their own customers.”  Id. at 1962 (citations omitted).  Second, the plaintiffs alleged that the ILECs entered into agreements to refrain from competing against one another, which were “to be inferred from the ILECs’ common failure ‘meaningfully [to] pursu[e]’ ‘attractive business opportunit[ies]’ in contiguous markets where they possessed ‘substantial competitive advantages.’”  Id. (citations omitted).

1. The Proper Pleading Standard

The Court started its analysis by stating that the “crucial question” with an alleged §1 Sherman Act violation is “whether the challenged anticompetitive conduct ‘stem[s] from independent decision or from an agreement, tacit or express.’”  Id. at 1964 (citations omitted).  “While a showing of parallel ‘business behavior is admissible circumstantial evidence from which the fact finder may infer agreement,’ it falls short of ‘conclusively establish[ing] agreement or … itself constitut[ing] a Sherman Act offense.’”  Id. at 1964 (citations omitted).

The Court then turned to a discussion of general notice pleading requirements under Rule 8, and observed that a complaint’s allegations “must be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level,” and mere “labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not do.”  Id. at 1964-1965.  On this articulation of the pleading standard, the Court concluded that “stating [a § 1] claim requires a complaint with enough factual matter (taken as true) to suggest that an agreement was made.  Asking for plausible grounds to infer an agreement does not impose a probability requirement at the pleading stage; it simply calls for enough fact to raise a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal evidence of illegal agreement.”  Id. at 1965.
The Court added that it was not seeking to apply a heightened pleading standard.  Id. at 1973 n.14 (citing Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N.A., 534 U.S. 506 (2002)), 1974.  The Court did clarify, however, that language in Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41 (1957), to the effect that “a complaint should not be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts” to entitle him to relief does not define the appropriate standard.  Id. at 1968.  A purely literal reading of Conley’s “no set of facts” language, the Court said, would allow a wholly conclusory statement of claim to survive a motion to dismiss whenever the pleadings left open the possibility that a plaintiff might later establish some “set of facts” to support recovery.  After having been “questioned, criticized, and explained away long enough,” and having “puzzl[ed] the profession for 50 years,” the Court announced the “retirement” of this language from Conley.  Id. at 1968-69.

2. Conspiracy Theory Must Be Plausible, Not Merely Conceivable 

According to the Court, plaintiffs’ §1 claim rested entirely on descriptions of parallel conduct, and the pleadings “mentioned no specific time, place or person involved in the alleged conspiracies.”  Id. at 1970 n.10.  The Court reiterated the district court’s observation that “[a]s to the ILECs’ supposed agreement to disobey the 1996 Act and thwart the CLECs’ attempts to compete, … nothing in the complaint intimates that the resistance to the upstarts was anything more than the natural, unilateral reaction of each ILEC intent on keeping its regional dominance.”  Id. at 1971.  And, although the Telecommunications Act of 1996 required the ILECs to subsidize their competitors with their own equipment at wholesale rates, suggesting that the ILECs may have a powerful economic incentive to resist, the Court added that “resisting competition is routine market conduct, and even if the ILECs flouted the 1996 Act in all the ways the plaintiffs allege … there is no reason to infer that the companies had agreed among themselves to do what was only natural anyway; so natural, in fact, that if alleging parallel decisions to resist competition were enough to imply an antitrust conspiracy, pleading a §1 violation against almost any group of competing businesses would be a sure thing.”  Id.
The Court concluded that benign reasons, consistent with competition, could also explain away plaintiffs’ second theory of conspiracy, which was based on an argument that although the 1996 Telecommunications Act was passed in the hope that the ILECs would attack their neighbors’ service areas, the ILECs had “declined ‘to enter each other’s service territories in any significant way.’”  Id. at 1972 (citations omitted).  Here, too, the plaintiffs contended that “the ILECs’ parallel conduct was ‘strongly suggestive of conspiracy.’”  Id. (citations omitted).  The Court noted, however, that there was a “natural explanation” for the alleged competitive reticence amongst the ILECs to be “that the former Government-sanctioned monopolists were sitting tight, expecting their neighbors to do the same thing.”  Id.  Moreover, the Court construed the complaint itself as providing various grounds to believe that “the ILECs would see their best interests in keeping to their old turf,” including its failure to allege that entry of an ILEC (as a CLEC) in another ILEC’s market was potentially any more lucrative than the other business opportunities being pursued by the ILEC at the time, and its multiple indications that any CLEC faced “nearly insurmountable barriers to profitability” because the ILECs all flagrantly resisted the 1996 Act’s network sharing requirements.  Id. at 1972-73.
B. Reactions to and Subsequent Application of Twombly
In the months since the decision was handed down, many courts have considered the applicability of Twombly.  By mid-December 2007, Twombly had been cited over 2,300 times in reported lower court opinions.
  The decision has quickly become part of the fabric of most judicial considerations of motions to dismiss and motions for summary judgment.  Courts typically cite the language in Twombly for the proposition that a complaint may not merely state “naked” assertions, but must support those assertions with factual allegations so as to make the claim “plausible.”  The following describes the reception that Twombly has received, together with particular applications in the context of payment card and banking litigation.

1. Application of Twombly to Contexts Other Than Antitrust
The Twombly decision raised the question whether it applied solely to conspiracy claims brought under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, to antitrust claims generally, or any claim, regardless of the legal theory.  Iqbal v. Hasty, 490 F.3d 143 (2d Cir. 2007), a decision authored by Judge Newman of the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit appears to have become a leading case in resolving this issue.  Although the court in Iqbal stated that the Supreme Court’s analysis “contains several, not entirely consistent, signals” concerning the scope of its application, it concluded that Twombly’s analysis of Rule 8 appeared integral to its holding.  Accordingly, the Iqbal court explained that it would be “reluctant to assume that all of the language of [Twombly] applies only to section 1 allegations, based on competitors’ parallel conduct, or slightly more broadly, only to antitrust cases.”  Id. at 157.  The Second Circuit added: “we believe the [Supreme Court] is not requiring a universal standard of heightened fact pleading, but is instead requiring a flexible ‘plausibility standard,’ which obliges a pleader to amplify a claim with some factual allegations in those contexts where such amplification is needed to render the claim plausible.” Id. at 157-58 (emphasis in original).

Many courts have looked to Iqbal approvingly for guidance on interpreting Twombly.  See, e.g., C.J.G. v. Scranton Sch. Dist., No. 3:07-CV-1214, 2007 WL 4269816 (M.D. Pa. Dec. 3, 2007); Veolia Es Special Servs., Inc. v. Techsol Chem. Co., No. 3:07-0153, 2007 WL 4255280 (S.D. W.Va. Nov. 30, 2007); Alvarado v. KOB-TV, LLC, 493 F.3d 1210, 1215 (10th Cir. 2007); Collins v. Marva Collins Preparatory Sch., No. 1:05cv614, 2007 WL 1989828 (S.D. Ohio July 9, 2007).  See also Norman Goldberger, Colleen Coonelly, and Justine Kazica, Courts Begin to Apply Twombly, Nat’l. L.J., 2 (2007).

Many courts have, like the Second Circuit, concluded that Twombly may be applied more broadly than just cases brought under Section 1 of the Sherman Act.  See, e.g., Watts v. Fla. Int’l Univ., 495 F.3d 1289, 1295-1300, (11th Cir. 2007) (Section 1983 Action); United States ex rel. Howard v. Lockheed Martin Corp., 499 F. Supp. 2d 972, (S.D. Ohio 2007); No Witness, LLC v. Cumulus Media Partners, LLC, No. 1:06-cv-1733, 2007 WL 4139399 (N.D. Ga. Nov. 13, 2007) (defamation); IFAST, Ltd. v. Alliance for Telecomms. Indus. Solutions, No. CCB-06-2088, 2007 WL 3224582 (D. Md. Sept. 27, 2007 (breach of fiduciary duty); Infant Swimming Research, Inc. v. Faegre & Benson, LLP, No. 07-cv-00839-LTB-BNB, 2007 WL 3326685 (D. Colo., Nov. 6, 2007) (fraud, negligent misrepresentation); Cannon v. GunnAllen Fin. Inc., No. 3:06-0804, 2007 WL 2351313 (M.D. Tenn. Aug. 14, 2007) (claims under Tennessee Securities Act); Anticancer Inc. v. Xenogen Corp., No. 05-CV-0448-B, 2007 WL 2345025 (S.D. Calif. Aug. 13, 2007) (patent infringement action); Collins v. Marva Collins Preparatory Sch., No. 1:05cv614, 2007 WL 1989828 (S.D. Ohio July 9, 2007) (trademark infringement).  See also Goldberger et al. at p. 2.  As discussed in more detail in Section  IV infra, Twombly has been applied by a number of courts in the banking context as well.

It appears that only a minority of courts have limited Twombly’s teachings to the antitrust context, or have indicated uncertainty as to its broader applicability.  See, e.g., Polzin v. Barna & Co., No. 3:07-cv-127, 2007 WL 2710705 (E.D. Tenn. Sept. 14, 2007); Baker v. Schriro, No. 07-353-PHX-SMM, 2007 WL 3046764, (D. Ariz. Oct. 17, 2007); Kersenbrock v. Stoneman Cattle Co., No. 07-1044, 2007 WL 2219288 (D. Kan. July 30, 2007), United States v. Harchar, No. 1:06 CV 2927, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 47028 (N.D. Ohio June 28, 2007).   See also Goldberger et al. at p. 2.

2. Antitrust Cases Decided Under Twombly
Twombly has been applied frequently in the antitrust context, without being limited to cases alleging conspiracy under Section 1 of the Sherman Act.  In some cases, courts have relied on Twombly to dismiss actions alleging parallel conduct.  In others, the complaint has successfully met the test of legal sufficiency. 
(a) Complaints dismissed under Twombly
Two illustrative antitrust cases in which the courts applied Twombly and dismissed the complaints are In re Elevator Antitrust Litigation, 502 F.3d 47 (2d Cir. 2007) and Total Benefits Planning Agency, Inc. v. Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shield, No. 1:05cv519, 2007 WL 2156657, (S.D. Ohio, July 25, 2007).

In Elevator, persons who had purchased elevators and/or elevator maintenance and repair services claimed that the defendant sellers of elevators and maintenance services had conspired to fix prices in violation of §1 of the Sherman Act and to monopolize the markets for the sale and maintenance of elevators in violation of §2 of the Sherman Act.  The plaintiffs further alleged that “defendants agreed to suppress and eliminate competition in the sale and service of elevators by fixing the price of elevators [and] replacement parts and services, rigging bids for contracts for elevator sales, allocating markets and customers for elevator sales and maintenance services, and rigging bids for contracts for elevator maintenance and repair services.”  In re Elevator, 502 F.3d at 49.  They also asserted that each defendant had monopolized the market for maintenance of its own elevators by, inter alia, interfering with replacement parts delivery and intentionally designing their elevators to require proprietary maintenance tools that were not made available to competing service companies.  See id.
The court concluded that the complaint’s allegations were “insufficient to establish a plausible inference of agreement, and therefore to state a claim.”  Id. at 50.  The court concluded that the allegations made to support conspiracy consisted of “‘basically every type of conspiratorial activity that one could imagine,’” that they were stated “‘in entirely general terms without any specification of any particular activities by any particular defendant,’” and that they amounted to “‘nothing more than a list of theoretical possibilities, which one could postulate without knowing any facts whatever.’”  Id. at 50-51 (citations omitted).  The allegations included assertions that the defendants had (i) participated in meetings in the U.S. and Europe to discuss pricing and market divisions; (ii) agreed to fix prices for elevators and services; (iii) rigged bids for sales and maintenance; (iv) exchanged price quotes; (v) allocated markets for sales and maintenance; (vi) “collusively” required customers to enter long-term maintenance contracts; and (vii) collectively took actions to drive independent repair companies out of business.  Id. at 51 n.5.  

Plaintiffs had also made allegations of parallel conduct based on similarities in contractual language, pricing, and equipment design.  Following Twombly, the court stated that these assertions “[did] not constitute ‘plausible grounds to infer an agreement’” because even though the conduct “is ‘consistent with conspiracy, [it is] just as much in line with a wide swath of rational and competitive business strategy unilaterally prompted by common perceptions of the market.’”  Id. at 51 (citing Twombly).  According to the court, “[s]imilar contract terms can reflect similar bargaining power and commercial goals (not to mention boilerplate); similar contract language can reflect the copying of documents that may not be secret; similar pricing can suggest competition at least as plausibly as it can suggest anticompetitive conspiracy; and similar equipment design can reflect the state of the art.”  Id.
In Total Benefits Planning Agency, Inc. v. Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shield, No. 1:05cv519, 2007 WL 2156657, (S.D. Ohio, July 25, 2007), the court dismissed a complaint that had alleged, inter alia, violations of §1 of the Sherman Act.  Plaintiffs had alleged that they were in the business of selling health and life insurance to individuals and businesses, and that Total Benefits Planning Agency had developed a strategy for controlling healthcare costs called the “Total Benefits Strategy.”  The Anthem defendants were insurance companies with whom plaintiffs maintained appointments to sell health and life insurance.  The plaintiffs alleged that the Anthem, together with certain agencies, had entered into an agreement to set commissions and consumer prices, that the Anthem defendants believed that plaintiff threatened those fixed prices, and that Anthem threatened to cancel patient appointments if they continued to use plaintiffs’ Total Benefits Strategy. Total Benefits, 2007 WL 2156657, at *1.  The defendants were alleged to have defamed and libeled plaintiffs, threatened to “blacklist” certain insurance agents and cancel their contracts to ensure that they did not transact with plaintiffs, and threatened to terminate appointments with any insurance agent who did business with the plaintiffs.  Id. at *2.

Applying Twombly, the court concluded that plaintiffs had failed to state a claim because they had “not alleged that there was a set price or price level, nor have they identified a written agreement or the basis for inferring a tacit agreement” and while a general timeframe had been identified, the pleadings “contain ‘no specific time, place, or person involved in the alleged [acts or omissions].’”   In short, according to the court, the plaintiffs had failed to provide “‘plausible grounds to infer an agreement’” as they had “alleged parallel, non-competitive behavior without any facts that would compel an inference as to the motive for that conduct.”  Id. at *6.
(b) Allegations Meeting the Twombly Plausibility Standard

Two recent cases concluded that the complaints at issue were adequately pleaded under Twombly.  See Behrend v. Comcast Corp., Nos. 03-6604, 07-218, 07-219, 2007 WL 2221415 (E.D.Pa., Aug. 1, 2007) and In re Hypodermic Products Antitrust Litigation, No. 05-CV-1602, 2007 WL 1959224 (D.N.J., June 29, 2007).

In Behrend, plaintiffs had claimed that defendants had engaged in the horizontal division of cable markets by entering into swap agreements with competitors and had monopolized the market.  Specifically, they alleged that, after acquisitions of small, competing cable systems by both Comcast and AT&T Broadband, Comcast agreed to swap its Chicago-area subscribers for AT&T Broadband’s Philadelphia-area subscribers, removing AT&T Broadband from the Philadelphia market and Comcast from the Chicago market.  Behrend, 2007 WL 2221415, at *5.
Stating that Twombly did not impose a heightened pleading standard, the court observed that “an antitrust complaint would certainly meet the Twombly criteria if the complaint constitutes notice to the defendant of the legal claims asserted and includes a statement of the elements of those claims, along with allegations of the defendant’s underlying conduct that, if proven, would plausibly demonstrate such elements.”  Id. at *5.  The court then distinguished the complaint before it from the one at issue in Twombly.  Whereas the latter complaint “failed to allege any facts compelling the inference that [the independent non-competitive] conduct arose from an agreement among the defendants not to compete,” here, the complaints alleged facts “sufficient to show an ‘agreement’ was made to impose horizontal market definitions.”  Id.  First, the court said, there were “clear allegations of actual agreements” between defendants and their competitors; and second, the allegations of anticompetitive conduct were “sufficient to support the characterizations of those agreements as horizontal market divisions” because they “provide[d] factual descriptions of the parties, their roles as competitors in the geographic markets, when the agreements were completed, and how the terms thereof allegedly eliminated competitors in, and raised entry and reentry barriers” in various, specific geographies.  Id.  

In In re Hypodermic Products Antitrust Litigation, No. 05-CV-1602, 2007 WL 1959224 (D.N.J., June 29, 2007), the court upheld a complaint in which plaintiff wholesalers in the pharmaceutical and medical device industry had sued the defendant medical device manufacturer, who allegedly controlled a dominant share of the relevant market for the hypodermic products that were at issue in the case, and who allegedly engaged in exclusionary conduct.  In re Hypodermic, 2007 WL 1959224, at *1.  The exclusionary conduct was alleged to include (1) imposing market share purchase requirements on hospitals or other healthcare entities, (2) bundling goods, (3) conspiring for the purpose of imposing exclusionary contracts, and (4) conspiring with other manufacturers to impose rebate penalties on purchasers relating to a bundle of products.  See id. at *2.  Distinguishing Twombly, the court stated that “the instant Complaint sets forth allegations of specific anti-competitive agreements – between [defendant] and certain GPOs, and between [defendant] and certain manufacturers – which the Court deems as providing Defendant with adequate notice of the particular grounds upon which Plaintiffs’ claims rest … .”  Id. at *14 (citations omitted).
C. Twombly as Applied in Payment Card Litigation

Since it was handed down, a number of courts have applied Twombly in payment card cases, both class action and non-class action, and have not limited its applicability to antitrust cases.

1. Credit Card Class Action Cases

(a) In re Late Fee and Over-Limit Fee Litigation, No. C 07-0634, 2007 WL 4106353 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 16, 2007)
In re Late Fee and Over-Limit Fee Litigation, No. C 07-0634, 2007 WL 4106353 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 16, 2007), a putative class action, plaintiffs’ consolidated complaint included a §1 Sherman Act claim.  The putative class was stated to include “credit cardholders who have paid excessive late fees and/or over-limit fees (‘Penalty Fees’) to the defendants,” who were most of the large credit card issuers in the United States.  Late Fee, 2007 WL 4106353, at *1.  Plaintiffs had alleged, inter alia, a conspiracy among defendant credit card issuers to fix prices and maintain a price floor for late fees.
  According to the plaintiffs, when credit cardholders were late in making payments or went over their credit limits, the cardholders were charged up to $39 in late fees and over-limit fees by the defendants.  See id.  

Applying Twombly, the court stated that plaintiffs had not identified “any actual agreement among the defendants,” but only alleged that “some of the defendant banks, at some times during the last decade had late fee terms on some credit card accounts that were in part parallel behavior, or ‘lockstep pricing,’” of late fees.  Id. at *5.  Moreover, although plaintiffs alleged that there were “opportunities and incentives for the banks to enter into agreements about pricing,” they could not identify any particular agreement.  Id.  The court then stated that the focus of plaintiffs’ allegations was a chart purporting to detail the current late fees charged by the six defendants and to show that three defendants had late fees for some credit cards at the same levels.  But, according to the court, the chart “[did] not suggest a ‘preceding agreement’ rather than ‘merely parallel conduct that could just as well be independent action.’”  Id. at *6.  Moreover, the same chart showed that three of the other alleged co-conspirators had different late-fee price levels.  Furthermore, it was evident from the complaint that the defendants’ fee levels “all followed different pricing paths at different times, not even roughly in parallel.”  Id.  This kind of pricing pattern, the court concluded, was “‘just as much in line with a wide swath of rational and competitive business strategy unilaterally prompted by common perceptions of the market,’ as it was with an agreement on pricing.”  Id. (citing Twombly).  The court also rejected plaintiffs’ argument that seven “plus factors” supported an inference of conspiracy.  Id. at *7-9.  The alleged plus factors were: (1) opportunity to communicate, (2) market concentration, (3) motive to conspire, (4) price leadership, (5) similar cost structures, (6) high barriers to entry, and (7) parallel price increases that bore no relationship to costs.  See id.  The court concluded that none of plaintiffs’ allegations had “mov[ed] the conspiracy claim from the realm of the ‘conceivable’ to the ‘plausible’ in light of the context here indicating that the defendants’ ‘parallel conduct … could just as well be independent action.’”  Id. at *9.

(b) Temple v. Circuit City Stores, Inc., Nos. 06 CV 5303 and 06 CV 5304, 2007 WL 2790154 (E.D.N.Y Sept. 25, 2007)

In Temple v. Circuit City Stores, Inc., Nos. 06 CV 5303 and 06 CV 5304, 2007 WL 2790154 (E.D.N.Y Sept. 25, 2007), a putative class action, private plaintiffs had sued Circuit City Stores, Inc. (“Circuit City”) and Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (“Wal-Mart”), both of which had previously been members of the plaintiff class and participants in the settlement of Visa Check/Mastermoney Antitrust Litigation (“Visa/MasterCard III”), 297 F. Supp. 2d 503 (E.D.N.Y 2003), aff’d sub nom, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Visa U.S.A., Inc., 396 F.3d 96 (2d Cir. 2005), cert. denied, 544 U.S. 1044 (2005).  In Visa Check/Mastermoney, Circuit City, Wal-Mart, and a class of merchants alleged that Visa and MasterCard had unlawfully tied merchant acceptance of credit cards to the acceptance of debit cards.  Temple, 2007 WL 2790154, at *1.  Visa and MasterCard agreed to settle those claims.  As part of the settlement, the networks altered some of the practices that were the subject of the complaint.
The two putative Temple classes consisted of Tennessee consumers who purchased goods from Circuit City and Wal-Mart in Tennessee.  They claimed that Circuit City and Wal-Mart had unlawfully passed on to them additional costs they (the merchants) incurred due to the alleged tying practices of Visa and MasterCard, and thus “illegally imposed ‘an extra “sales tax”’ on every retail transaction between [the defendants] and [their] customers in the United States.”  Id. at *2 (citations omitted).  Plaintiffs alleged that Wal-Mart and Circuit City willingly paid excessive fees to Visa and MasterCard “for business reasons” to protect their own profits rather than forego accepting Visa and MasterCard credit cards.  Id.  Plaintiffs asserted that Wal-Mart and Circuit City “conspired with Visa, MasterCard, and the numerous financial institutions that are members of Visa and MasterCard, through ‘an agreement, understanding, and concerted action,’” to overcharge their customers.  Id.
Applying Twombly, the court dismissed these vertical conspiracy allegations on the ground that the passing-on of the fees could, by itself, “be due to an independent economic decision by the defendants,” (something which the complaint itself appeared to recognize), or it could be due to a vertical conspiracy between the defendants and Visa and MasterCard; however, Twombly required that the plaintiffs allege facts that pushed their claims over the line from the possible to the plausible.  Id.  According to the court, plaintiffs had failed to cross that line because the allegations were “equally explained by independent decisions as by a vertical conspiracy.”
  Id. at *7 (citing Twombly).
(c) Van Slyke v. Capital One Bank et al., No. C 07-00671, 2007 WL 2385108 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 17, 2007)

In Van Slyke v. Capital One Bank et al., No. C 07-00671, 2007 WL 2385108 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 17, 2007), a putative class action, the court applied Twombly in granting the defendant’s motion to dismiss a claim raised under the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”).  Plaintiffs alleged that defendant had specifically targeted its sub-prime customers in making credit card offers for cards with low limits ($250 to $500) in the hope that these customers would accept and then exceed the limit on at least one card, allowing defendant to charge fees on all card accounts.  Van Slyke, 2007 WL 2385108, at *1.  Plaintiffs also alleged that the disclosures in connection with the bank’s Mainstreet products were inadequate and deceptive.  Id.  Plaintiffs claimed that (1) the unsolicited submission of pre-approved credit card offers violated TILA and Regulation Z; (2) defendants failed to disclose that the minimum payment listed on the monthly statements does not include all of the fees charged so that cardholders are continually in default on their accounts; (3) defendants violated TILA because Capital One’s customer agreement required that cardholders and applicants write a letter to determine the true cost of credit; and (4) defendants failed to continue sending monthly statements while still maintaining that the accounts were still accruing fees and interest in violation of Regulation Z.  Defendants moved to dismiss the TILA claims.

Applying Twombly, the court held that “defendants have shown, at based [sic] upon the issues briefed, that plaintiffs have failed to state a claim for violation of TILA.”  Id. at *4, 6.  Plaintiffs’ arguments failed in that: (1) the mere sending of a pre-approved credit card application was not prohibited because no credit card issues except upon the recipient’s request; (2) overlimit fees and late fees are not finance charges and are explicitly excluded from TILA’s definition of finance charges, and TILA and Regulation Z do not require card issuers to disclose a minimum payment, so plaintiff could not shoehorn this claim into TILA; (3) while TILA requires creditors to disclose on monthly statements any added finance charges, plaintiffs did not allege that information was missing from their statements, only that cardholders and applicants would have to write a letter to defendants to obtain the most up-to-date terms for credit (the court also rejected new arguments raised in plaintiff’s opposition); and (4) plaintiffs alleged defendants had done something that they were expressly allowed to do under TILA.  See id. at *4-6.

(d) Harris v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., No. 07 CV 2561, 2007 WL 3046162 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 10, 2007)

The court relied on Twombly to test the complaint in Harris v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., No. 07 CV 2561, 2007 WL 3046162 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 10, 2007), a class action suit brought under the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act (FACTA) claiming that when a credit card was used to make purchases from an online store, a computer-generated receipt for the transaction displayed the expiration date of a credit card in violation of that statute.  Harris, 2007 WL 3046162, at *1.  Plaintiff claimed that over 100 persons in Illinois received similar electronically printed receipts for online transactions, displaying either the expiration date of the customer’s credit or debit card, or more than the last five digits of that card.  Id.  The court, applying Twombly, found that plaintiff’s allegations that defendant had violated FACTA by printing receipts containing consumer credit information in an improper manner, after the date on which FACTA became effective, “clearly raise his right to relief above a speculative level; and his claim is, therefore, sufficiently plead, within the requirements outlined by the Supreme Court in [Twombly].”  Id. at *2.

(e) In re TJX Companies Retail Sec. Breach Litigation, No. 07-10162-WGY, 2007 WL 2982994 (D. Mass. Oct. 12, 2007)

In re TJX Companies Retail Security Breach Litigation, No. 07-10162-WGY, 2007 WL 2982994 (D. Mass. Oct. 12, 2007), is a class action brought in connection with an alleged breach of a retailer’s security that allowed hackers to access the personal and financial information of shoppers.  Upon the revelations of this alleged breach, suits were filed and consolidated in the District of Massachusetts, and proceeded along two tracks: the “Consumer Track” (which has been settled, in principle) and the “Financial Track,” which was the category for the case at hand.  This particular decision related to a complaint filed by the issuer banks (which issued credit cards and debit cards to consumers, who had used those cards to make purchases at the retailer’s stores) against the retailer and its bank in connection with the alleged breach.  The plaintiff banks’ complaint raised contractual claims, various state law negligence claims, a state law negligent misrepresentation claim, and a claim under Massachusetts General Law chapter 93A.

Because Twombly had cited with approval the First Circuit’s recognition of the limitations of Conley, and given the First Circuit’s pre-Twombly precedent requiring “more than conclusions” and insisting “on at least the allegation of a minimal factual setting,” the district court did not construe Twombly as “materially altering the motion to dismiss standard in the First Circuit.”  Id. at *2 (citations omitted).  Under Twombly and circuit precedent, the court dismissed the contract claims and the negligence claim, but denied the motions to dismiss the negligent misrepresentation claim and the chapter 93A claims.

2. Individual Actions in the Payment Card Industry 

In Business Payment Systems LLC v. BA Merchant Services LLC, No. 3:06 CV-378-S, 2007 WL 2174724 (W.D. Ky. July 25, 2007), the court relied on Twombly to test the sufficiency of the complaint concerning a marketing agreement for the solicitation of applications for credit card processing services, and denied in part the defendant’s motion to dismiss.  Plaintiff Business Payment Systems (“BPS”) had entered into a marketing agreement to act as a marketer for an acquirer.
  As the marketer, BPS was to solicit merchants to apply for credit/debit card processing services.  At some point during the contractual relationship, BPS allegedly became convinced that defendant had been shortchanging it by manipulating the calculation of its residual payments.  The only issue before the court was a question of contract interpretation, namely whether the agreement allowed defendant the “unfettered right to change one of the components of the [compensation] formula” in the agreement.  Business Payment Systems, 2007 WL 2174724, at *1 n.1.  Defendant moved to dismiss plaintiff’s claim; however, citing Twombly for the proposition that “a plaintiff ‘need plead only enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face,’” the court concluded that BPS had adequately stated a claim for breach of the marketing agreement for failure to pay the full amount of residual payments due.  Id. at *3.
In Dorsey v. American Express Co., 499 F. Supp. 2d 1 (D.D.C. Aug. 2, 2007), the court applied Twombly to a complaint brought by an individual credit card holder against the credit card company and issuer.  Dorsey alleged that “‘[b]oth defendants breached a fiduciary obligation,’” that one of the defendants “‘deceived the plaintiff and devised convoluted methods of not adequately promulgating its policies regarding loan disclosure,’” and that another defendant concealed the delay of a payment.  Dorsey, 499 F. Supp. 2d at 1.  Applying Twombly, the court concluded that, even though “taken as true, [the alleged] facts might suggest that plaintiff is entitled to relief,” they were not sufficiently definite to sustain a complaint.  Id. (citing Twombly).  In requiring the cardholder to make a more definite statement, the court again, citing Twombly, stated that, “[a]s they stand, the facts currently alleged in the complaint are too vague to give the defendants the notice to which they are entitled.  Plaintiff must be specific enough with respect to the ‘material elements necessary to sustain recovery under some viable legal theory.’”  Id. (citing Twombly).

D. Cases Applying Twombly in the Broader Banking and Securities Law Context

Twombly has also been applied in cases arising in the broader banking litigation context.  Moreover, even though a statutorily-defined pleading standard governs private federal securities actions, Twombly has also been cited to inform the analysis in securities cases.  See, e.g., In re Marsh & McLennan Cos., Sec. Litig., No. 04 CV 8144, 2007 WL 3407064 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 14, 2007) (noting that Second Circuit has explicitly concluded that Twombly is applicable in securities fraud cases, citing ATSI Communications, Inc. v. Shaar Fund Ltd., 493 F.3d 87 (2d Cir. 2007)), Britton v. Parker, Nos. 06-cv-1797, 06-cv-1922, 06-cv-02017, 2007 WL 2871003 (D. Colo. Sept. 26, 2007) and In re Zoran Corp. Derivative Litig., 511 F. Supp. 2d 986, 2007 WL 1650948 (N.D. Cal. 2007).

In Savrnoch v. First American Bankcard, Inc., No. 07-C-0241, 2007 WL 3171302 (E.D. Wis. Oct. 26, 2007), a putative class action, plaintiffs had alleged, inter alia, that the defendant had violated the Electronic Fund Transfers Act (“EFTA”) in that it failed to provide notices to the plaintiff class as required by EFTA, yet imposed a fee upon class plaintiffs in violation of EFTA when they used defendant’s ATMs.  Savrnoch, 2007 WL 3171302 at *1.  The court denied defendant’s motion to dismiss.  For example, applying Twombly to the EFTA claim, the court concluded that plaintiff had adequately alleged that defendant “violated the EFTA by imposing and collecting a surcharge without properly posting, in a prominent and conspicuous location on the ATM, a notice that a fee will be imposed, or, if there are circumstances in which a fee will not be imposed, that a fee may be imposed.”  Id. at *2.  The court also concluded that plaintiff’s allegations that she suffered damages by paying an ATM fee, and that defendant charged her this fee in violation of 15 USC §1693b(d)(3)(C), were specific enough to satisfy Twombly.  Id. at *4.

In Crossman v. Chase Bank, Nos. 2:07-116-CWH and 2:07-120-CWH, 2007 WL 2702699 (D.S.C. Sept. 12, 2007), the plaintiff brought a putative class action seeking statutory damages for willful noncompliance with the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”) and punitive damages.  Plaintiff alleged that defendants violated the FCRA when they accessed her credit report in order to send her two direct mail pieces because those letters did not constitute firm offers of credit under the FCRA and because the defendants failed to make disclosures required by FCRA.  Crossman, 2007 WL 2702699, at *1, 3.  Defendants moved to dismiss for failure to state a claim.  The court held that the plaintiff had not identified a specific violation of the FCRA, and even though plaintiff claimed that discovery would reveal further detail on defendant’s purported violations of the FCRA, the court further held that the plaintiff’s complaint “does not allege enough facts to raise a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal evidence that the defendants violated the Fair Credit Reporting Act.”  Id. at *6.  The court noted that the Supreme Court in Twombly had held that dismissal was proper in such a situation, where the complaint was “devoid of plausibility,” in order to avoid “the potentially enormous expense of discovery in cases with no reasonable found hope that the discovery process will reveal relevant evidence.”  Id. (citing Twombly). 

E. Recent Developments in Antitrust Standing in Payment Card Litigation

Two recent decisions from the Second Circuit illustrate that antitrust standing remains an important consideration in assessing the merits of complaints in the payment card industry.

In Paycom Billing Services, Inc. v. MasterCard International, Inc., 467 F.3d 283 (2d Cir. 2006), the Second Circuit affirmed the dismissal of plaintiff’s complaint by the district court on antitrust standing grounds.  See Paycom Billing Servs., Inc. v. MasterCard Int’l, Inc., No. CIVA03CV6150DGT, 2005 WL 711658 (E.D.N.Y. Mar 29, 2005).  Paycom Billing Services, Inc. (“Paycom”), a processing service for internet credit card transactions, had filed suit against MasterCard International, Inc. (“MasterCard”).  Paycom’s business consisted of contracting with internet businesses to process sales on their behalf, accepting MasterCard, Visa, and other forms of electronic payment for those sales.  MasterCard had in place a “chargeback system” which regulated the allocation of charges among the issuing bank, acquiring bank, and merchant in the event a cardholder claimed that a particular transaction was fraudulent: the issuing bank would issue a refund to the cardholder and debit the amount of the transaction, less fees, from the acquiring bank’s account, and the acquiring bank would then debit the same amount, less fees, from the merchant’s account.  Under MasterCard’s policies, if a merchant was able to produce a signed sales receipt, then the issuing bank would approve a transaction; if no signed sales receipt was available, as is the case with internet transactions, the merchant would bear the entire cost of the alleged fraud.  Paycom, 2005 WL 711658, at *2.  

Plaintiff asserted that the “chargeback system” violated §§1 and 2 of the Sherman Act because it allegedly “constitute[d] an agreement among defendant’s member banks not to compete regarding risk allocation for internet transactions,” and “the fines and penalties imposed by defendant’s ‘chargeback’ policy constitute[d] price-fixing by [MasterCard’s] member banks.”  Id. at *3.  Plaintiff also challenged three further MasterCard policies (the Competitive Programs Policy, or “CPP”, the Cross-Border Acquiring Rules, or “CBA Rules”, and the Internet Merchant Qualification Mandates) on the same grounds.  Id.  On appeal, the court concluded that Paycom’s situation was similar to that of the plaintiffs in Illinois Brick Co. v. Illinois, 431 U.S. 720 (1977), in that “Paycom’s complaint alleges that the chargebacks and chargeback fines and penalties are imposed by issuing banks and MasterCard on acquiring banks,” not on the merchants directly.  Paycom, 467 F.3d at 291.  Thus, the fact that the acquiring banks allegedly “almost always” passed those fees on to the merchants did not make a difference, as “even if one hundred percent of the chargebacks, fines, and penalties were passed-on, Paycom, as an indirect payor of the chargebacks and chargeback fines and penalties, would still lack antitrust standing.”  Id. at 291-92.  The Second Circuit also found that Paycom lacked standing on other grounds with respect to the CPP claims and the CBA Rules claims.  Id. at 295.
In Temple v. Circuit City Stores, Inc., Nos. 06 CV 5303 and 06 CV 5304, 2007 WL 2790154 (E.D.N.Y Sept. 25, 2007), discussed in Section III.C.1.(b) supra, the plaintiffs had attempted to overcome the indirect purchaser problem by suing Wal-Mart and Circuit City, as to whom they were “direct” purchasers.  Temple, 2007 WL 2790154, at *5.  Defendants moved to dismiss on the basis that the Illinois Brick indirect purchaser rule barred plaintiffs’ claims.  Id. at *3.  While the court declined to dismiss the complaint on antitrust standing grounds, instead granting the motion on the basis that the alleged antitrust injury was “legally insufficient” under Twombly even if the complaint were construed “to avoid application of the indirect purchaser rule,” the court nevertheless addressed defendants’ Illinois Brick argument. Id.
The Temple court cited the Second Circuit’s Paycom decision’s application of the Illinois Brick rule and observed that it “operates with equal force in tying cases like this one.  The dealer who purchases illegally tied goods or services suffers direct antitrust injury, but the consumer who transacts with that dealer does not, because the consumer’s damages flow from the dealer’s pass-on of an overcharge.” Id. at *4.  The court thus concluded that Illinois Brick applied to plaintiffs’ tying claims because “[t]he plaintiffs allege they bought goods from Wal-Mart and Circuit City, dealers who were themselves supposedly overcharged for tied payment card services.  Because the plaintiffs’ claimed injury flows entirely from the overcharge first imposed upon and then passed down the stream of commerce by Wal-Mart and Circuit City, the plaintiffs are indirect purchasers for Illinois Brick purposes.  They are therefore barred from bringing this tying action against Visa and MasterCard.”  Id.  The fact that plaintiffs had sued Wal-Mart and Circuit City to overcome the indirect purchaser problem was unavailing: “[i]f Wal-Mart and Circuit City are going to be the only defendants, then I must dismiss the complaint because it does not allege that the defendants did anything wrong (at least as far as the Sherman Act is concerned).”  Id.  The court pointed out that plaintiffs had not claimed that Wal-Mart and Circuit City conspired with one another to restrain trade, and if the defendants each performed an “independent business calculation to pass on the Visa/MasterCard overcharge to their customers, that is no §1 violation because the conduct involved no ‘contract, combination, or conspiracy.’”  Id. at *5 n.8.  
IV. Market Definitions in the Credit/Payment Card Industry

“There is no subject in antitrust law more confusing than market definition.  One reason is that the concept, even in the pristine formulation of economists, is deliberately an attempt to oversimplify-for working purposes-the very complex economic interactions between a number of differently situated buyers and sellers, each of whom in reality has different costs, needs, and substitutes.”  U.S. Healthcare, Inc. v. Healthsource, Inc., 986 F.2d 589, 598 (1st Cir. 1993).  In attempting to provide guidelines for defining a market in an antitrust case, courts have recognized that “the nature of the claim can affect the proper market definition.”  Id.  Courts also state that the purpose of defining a market is to assess a firm’s ability to raise price by controlling output.  See Ball Mem. Hosp., Inc. v. Mut. Hosp. Ins., Inc., 784 F.2d 1325, 1336-37 (7th Cir. 1986).  Further, because market definition is part and parcel of a “rule of reason” inquiry, it also relates to a broader inquiry regarding the competitive effects of the actions that allegedly are being taken in a particular market.
Over the past twenty years, some antitrust cases involving the payment card industry have reached the stage at which the issue of market definition has been litigated.  A review of decisions from this period indicates that the market definitions have varied.  Moreover, the procedural posture in which a market has been defined has ranged from stipulation by the parties to determination at trial.

What follows is a summary of some of the cases bearing on the issue, illustrating some of the arguments relating to market definition in the payment card context and the different markets that courts have defined.  As litigants study these cases, they should think about the relationship between the claims asserted and the market definitions and the manner in which the parties and the courts sought to link the concepts of output, price and product.  The diversity of ways in which the market has been defined in payment card cases raises questions about precisely how the market in complex industries such as the payment card or healthcare industries should be defined.  As the First Circuit further observed in the U.S. Healthcare decision, another reason why market definition is confusing is that, “when lawyers and judges take hold of the concept, they impose on it nuances and formulas that reflect administrative and antitrust policy goals.  This adaption is legitimate (economists have no patent on the concept), but it means that normative and descriptive ideas become intertwined in the process of market definition.”  986 F.2d at 598.
A. National Bancard Corp. v. VISA, U.S.A., Inc., 779 F.2d 592 (11th Cir. 1986) (“NaBanco”)

NaBanco involved a claim by plaintiff National Bancard Corporation that certain aspects of the Visa system relating to the system interchange rate violated §1 of the Sherman Act.  The plaintiff, which was not a member of Visa, served as a processing agent for Visa members who signed merchants to participate in the Visa network by accepting Visa-branded cards.  The gravamen of the complaint was that an issuer reimbursement fee set by Visa disadvantaged National Bancard’s ability to compete with Visa members for acquiring merchant customers.  This disadvantage allegedly came into being because Visa members, by virtue of assertedly being able to engage in transactions that would not require an issuer reimbursement fee, would be able to reduce the merchant discount that they charged, but National Bancard, unable to engage in such transactions, would not be able to do so.  The district court concluded after a full trial that National Bancard had failed to prove a violation of the antitrust laws.  See Nat’l Bancard Corp. v. Visa U.S.A., Inc., 596 F. Supp. 1231 (S.D. Fla. 1984).  On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed.

The trial had included presentation of evidence on the issue of market definition.  According to the district court, “the relevant market in this case consists of the market for payment systems as VISA contends.”  National Bancard, 596 F. Supp. at 1257.  The district court based its conclusion in part on trial testimony from “cardholders and merchants who testified at trial [that they] considered the VISA services equivalent or sufficiently close to a variety of payment systems used in retail sales, including other credit cards, travelers cheques, cash, ATM cards, personal checks, and check guarantee cards.”  Id. at 1257-58.  When National Bancard challenged this finding on appeal, it argued that there were “three distinct markets,” one each for “card-issuing services, merchant-signing services and ‘IRF-like’ interchange services.”  NaBanco, 779 F.2d at 601.  It argued further that “the card-issuing banks sell receivables to merchant-signing banks with the issuing banks directly fixing the prices of those sales through their control of VISA’s board of directors.”  Id.  The Eleventh Circuit rejected this argument, stating that it agreed with the district court “that the evidence adduced at the trial instead demonstrates a complex market relationship between ‘cardholder and merchant demands for the VISA service suggestive of a joint venture.’”  Id.  The court of appeals affirmed the district court’s finding that the relevant product market was “all payment devices (including cash, checks, and all forms of credit cards),” and that “VISA did not possess power in that market.”  NaBanco, 779 F.2d at 603.  

B. SCFC ILC, Inc. v. VISA USA, Inc., 36 F.3d 958 (10th Cir. 1994)

In SCFC ILC, Inc. v. VISA USA, Inc., 36 F.3d 958 (10th Cir. 1994), plaintiff, an affiliate of Sears Roebuck & Co., planned to inaugurate a national Visa program called the “Prime Option” card.  When Visa USA learned of the planned program, it cancelled the printing of the credit cards and invoked a bylaw to exclude Sears’s affiliate, SCFC ILC, from the association.  The bylaw stated that Visa USA would not accept for membership any applicant issuing cards deemed competitive.  Sears brought an action under §1 of the Sherman Act.

The parties stipulated to a “general purpose charge card market” market definition.  It appears that the parties had defined this market as an “intersystem” market, which, according to the court, consisted of Visa, MasterCard, American Express, Discover and Diners Club in that market.  See id. at 967.  The intersystem market was distinguished from an “intrasystem” market, which consisted of issuer-members of, for example, the Visa network.  According to the court, although the parties had stipulated to an “intersystem” market, Sears’s complaint alleged that Sears attempted to launch the Prime Option card “under the Visa aegis to ‘compete more effectively’ at the issuer level.”  See id.  This dissonance between Sears’s actual allegation of competitive harm and the stipulation as to relevant market led the court to assess allegations of market in an “issuer market” (which was unconcentrated) as opposed to a “systems market” (which was said to have only five actors).  Because the district court’s analysis took the relevant market to be the systems market, the lower court’s decision was reversed on this point.

C. United States v. Visa U.S.A., Inc. 163 F. Supp. 2d 322 (S.D.N.Y. 2001)

In United States v. Visa U.S.A., Inc., 163 F. Supp. 2d 322 (S.D.N.Y. 2001), the United States challenged Visa and MasterCard rules that prohibited Visa and MasterCard member banks from issuing American Express and Discover cards.  Thus, the claim essentially centered on other networks’ ability to service issuers of Visa and MasterCard-branded cards.  According to the government, by forbidding issuer members to issue American Express or Discover cards, Visa and MasterCard had adversely affected consumers’ choices, American Express’s and Discover’s ability to compete, and limited output of cards.

The district court, affirmed by the court of appeals, concluded that there were two relevant markets for the purposes of the case.  The first relevant product market was stated to be the general purpose card market, a market proposed on the basis of the government’s theory that Visa and MasterCard had restrained output of general purpose (i.e., charge and credit) cards because of their exclusionary rule.  The defendants argued that the relevant market should be broadly defined to includes all methods of payment, including cash, checks, and debit cards.  The district court, however, disagreed, concluding that evidence of consumer preferences suggested that charge and credit cards are perceived and used differently from debit cards, proprietary cards, cash, checks and other means of payment because of the differences in acceptance level at merchants and functionality.  See 163 F. Supp. 2d at 336-37.  The court also concluded that cardholders exhibited little sensitivity to price increases.  See id. at 338.

The district court also concluded that a systems/network services market was another relevant market.  The court stated that “[c]ompetition among the systems plays a major role in determining the overall quality of the brand, encompassing system-level investments in brand advertising, the creation of new products and features and cost-saving increases in the efficiency of the electronic backbone of the networks.”  Id. at 332.  According to the court, “general purpose card networks provide the infrastructure and mechanisms through which general purpose card transactions are conducted, including the authorization, settlement, and clearance of transactions.”  Id. at 338.  The court also added that “Visa and MasterCard do not dispute that they participate in the general purpose card network services market, or that in that market they compete against American Express and Discover as networks.”  Id. at 339.


D. In re Visa Check/Mastermoney Antitrust Litigation, 2003 WL 1712568 (E.D.N.Y. Apr. 1, 2003) (“VisaCheck”)

In VisaCheck, a class of merchants claimed that Visa and MasterCard had violated §1 of the Sherman Act by employing illegal tying arrangements, using their power in the credit card services market to “force” the merchants to accept debit cards, and that they had violated §2 of the Sherman Act by attempting (and conspiring) to monopolize the debit card services market.  VisaCheck  at *1-2.  On cross-motions for summary judgment, the court granted plaintiffs’ motion, inter alia, on the issue of relevant market.  Id. at *1, 6.  

In analyzing the relevant markets for the tying claim to determine whether debit cards and credit cards were in fact separate products, the district court relied on the “character of the demand for the two items.”  According to the district court, the evidence in the record suggested that debit cards and credit cards are demanded separately by merchants.  Id. at *2.  The court stated that credit cards and debit cards were “sold separately; many merchants would refuse to use off-line debit services if given the choice to do so; and the defendants” had also acknowledged the distinctive attributes of the two services in their marketing and strategy “activities the distinctive attributes of their off-line debit services compared to their credit card services.”  Id.  On defining the relevant market for the alleged tying product (i.e., credit cards), the district court concluded that, at its broadest, that market consisted of “the provision of general purpose credit and charge card services.”  Id.  The court noted that the evidence established that there was no cross-elasticity of demand at the merchant level between the defendants’ products and all other forms of payment – merchants had not switched to other payment devices despite significant increases in the interchange fees on the defendants’ credit cards (in this respect, the court noted, the evidence actually suggested an even narrower product market, i.e. “general purpose credit card services” alone).  Id.  

V. Applicability of State Farm and Gore to Credit Card Penalty Fees
In In re Late Fee and Over-Limit Fee Litigation, No. 07-0634, 2007 WL 4106353 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 16, 2007), the Northern District of California recently considered the question of whether the Supreme Court’s Due Process limitation on punitive damages in BMW of North America, Inc. v. Gore, 517 U.S. 559, 134 L.Ed.2d. 809 (1996), State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408 (2003), and other recent cases extends to credit card penalty fees.  The court concluded that the State Farm/Gore line of cases does not apply to such fees.

A. Gore and State Farm
In Gore, the Supreme Court declined to uphold a $2 million punitive damages award which accompanied a verdict of $4,000 in compensatory damages, finding the punitive damages award to be grossly excessive and therefore violative of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  Gore, 517 U.S. at 585-86.  In the opinion, the Supreme Court examined when punitive damages may properly be imposed in furtherance of legitimate state interests, and noted that it is only when an award can be characterized as “grossly excessive” in relation to those interests that it enters the “zone of arbitrariness” that violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  Id. at 568.  The Court then set out guideposts by which courts could review punitive damages awards to determine whether they are grossly excessive.  Id. at 574-75.

Following this precedent, the Supreme Court in State Farm held that a punitive damages award of $145 million, where full compensatory damages were $1 million, was excessive and violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  State Farm, 538 U.S. at 412.  The Supreme Court focused on the differences between the goals of compensatory damages, which are intended to redress a plaintiff’s concrete loss, and of punitive damages, which are aimed at deterrence and retribution, and serve the same purposes as criminal penalties.  Id. at 416.  The Due Process Clause prohibits the imposition of grossly excessive or arbitrary punishments on a tortfeasor, and to the extent that an award is grossly excessive, it furthers no legitimate purpose and constitutes an arbitrary deprivation of property.  Id.  Under the Gore guideposts, the $145 million award was “neither reasonable nor proportionate to the wrong committed, and it was an irrational and arbitrary deprivation of the property of the defendant.”  Id. at 429.

B. Applicability to Credit Card Penalty Fees
In Late Fee, also discussed in Section III.C.1.(a), supra, the plaintiffs’ principal claim was that the late and over-limit fees imposed by defendant credit card issuers were excessive “punitive damages” subject to limitation under the Due Process Clause as interpreted in State Farm and other recent Supreme Court decisions.  Late Fee, 2007 WL 4106353, at *2.  The plaintiffs argued that the court must interpret federal banking statutes, principally the National Banking Act (NBA), but also the Depository Institutions Deregulation and Monetary Control Act (DIDA), to incorporate State Farm’s Due Process limits on credit card late and over-limit fees, as the plaintiffs equated these fees with “punitive damages”.
  Id.  The plaintiffs also asserted that the remedial provisions of the banking statutes provided them with a cause of action for the allegedly excessive fees.  Id. at *2-3.
 
The court held that the plaintiffs’ NBA/DIDA counts failed to state a claim.  Id. at *3.  The court held that “the defendants’ late and over-limit fees are not ‘punitive damages’ subject to the Due Process Clause” because cases such as State Farm concern “damages that a court, i.e. the state, levies against a defendant.”  Id. (citations omitted).  In Late Fee, the plaintiffs had not shown that the late and over-limit fees fit within this category, given that they were not imposed by a court, but are rather “paid by one party to the other pursuant to a private contract.”  Id. at *4.  The court noted that none of the fundamental Due Process concerns to which the Supreme Court cases refer – i.e. “risks of arbitrariness, uncertainty, and lack of notice” applied to the defendants’ late fees; “[t]o the contrary, the parties establish the fees in advance in the written credit card contract.”  Id. (citations omitted).  Moreover, “even if the fees could be regarded as some kind of private ‘punitive damages,’ the fees would still not implicate the Constitution” because “[t]he Due Process Clause constrains government action, not private conduct.”  Id.  Just because the federal banking statutes “allow the defendant banks and the plaintiffs to enter into private contracts allowing for such fees,” the court continued, this “does not transform the charging of those fees into state action.”  Id.  By legislating to allow parties contractual freedom in their private credit arrangements, Congress does not offend the Due Process Clause.  Id.
Finally, the court concluded, there was “no basis for plaintiffs’ assertion of a damages claim under the NBA.”  Id. at *5.  The plaintiffs had posited a theory that “pursuant to the doctrine of constitutional avoidance, the court should construe the usury provision of the NBA … to incorporate Due Process Clause limits on ‘punitive damages’ as articulated in State Farm and similar decisions.”  Id.  The court perceived this theory as failing on two grounds:  first, the plaintiffs failed to show the existence of “grave and doubtful constitutional questions” that the court should seek to avoid through statutory construction, and second, the doctrine of constitutional avoidance “applies only where statutory text is susceptible of two constructions,” which was not the case with Section 85 of the NBA.  Id.  
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